
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP BOARD 
7275 West Main Street 
Kalamazoo, MI  49009 

269.375.4260 
 

May 28, 2019 
BOARD WORK SESSION 

6:00 p.m. 
AGENDA 

 
A. Call to Order 

B. Public Comment 

C. Presentation on Housing “Hope Through Navigation” - Gwendolyn Hooker 

D. Discussion on Township Board Policies – Purchasing, Township Board Meeting 

E. Discussion on Waste Hauling Services – Survey Results 

F. Update on Oshtemo Speed Limit Work  

G. Discussion on “Review of Factors Impacting Organizational Efficiency” 

H. Other Updates and Business 
  

REGULAR MEETING 
7:15 p.m. 
AGENDA 

 
1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 

4. Consent Agenda 

a. Approve Minutes from May 14, 2019 
b. Receipts & Disbursements Report 
c. 2019 Township Board Meeting Date Amendments 

  
5. Consideration of Agritourism Ordinance – Second Reading 

6. Township Cemeteries 
a. Consideration of General Ordinance 233.000 Cemetery Regulations Ordinance –

Amendments – First Reading 
 

b. Discussion on: 
i. 2019 Fee Schedule Amendments 
ii. Creation of Cemeteries Care Trust Fund 

 

7. Other Township Business 

8. Public Comment 

9. Board Member Comments  

10. Request to Enter into Closed Session to Discuss Attorney Opinion 

11. Work Session (Reconvene for items not completed)  

12. Adjournment 



Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting:  

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for dialogue
and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may be delegated
to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated questions can be
answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email (oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-
in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited.
At the close of public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include
questions are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further
research, and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board
deliberation which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual capabilities 
of the meeting room.  Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required.   

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on which 
the public hearing is being conducted.  Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be directed to 
any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting.  

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to  the orderly 
conduct of business.  The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which does 
not follow these guidelines.  

(adopted 5/9/2000) 

(revised 5/14/2013) 

(revised 1/8/2018)

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone 
calls, stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from 
Monday-Thursday 8:00 am- 5:00 pm, and on Friday 8:00 am-1:00 pm. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person.   

Oshtemo Township 

Board of Trustees 

Supervisor   
 Libby Heiny-Cogswell  216-5220      libbyhc@oshtemo.org  

Clerk   
Dusty Farmer   216-5224       dfarmer@oshtemo.org   

Treasurer   

 Grant Taylor 216-5221     gtaylor@oshtemo.org   

Trustees   

Deb Everett 375-4260     deverett@oshtemo.org  

Zak Ford  271-5513     zford@oshtemo.org

Ken Hudok       548-7002     khudok@oshtemo.org

Township Department Information 
Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 216-5225  assessor@oshtemo.org

Fire Chief: 

Mark Barnes 375-0487  mbarnes@oshtemo.org

Ordinance Enf: 

Rick Suwarsky  216-5227   rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
Parks Director: 

Karen High 216-5233   khigh@oshtemo.org
     Rental Info      216-5224   oshtemo@oshtemo.org

Planning Director: 

Julie Johnston 216-5223    jjohnston@oshtemo.org

Public Works: 

Marc Elliott 216-5236    melliott@oshtemo.org

Cheri L. Bell 372-2275 cbell@oshtemo.org

mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:ncoshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:dboshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:%20%20%20%20%20deverett@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:khudok@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:mbarnes@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:jjohnston@oshtemo.org
mailto:melliott@oshtemo.org


  

1 

 

 
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

PURCHASING POLICY 
 

Restated: November 13, 2018May 28, 2019 
 
 
General Purpose: 
 
The purpose of this purchasing policy is to ensure the efficient procurement of appropriate goods 
and services for use in the normal and routine operation of the Charter Township of Oshtemo. This 
policy ensures the accountability, transparency, and ethical behavior of Township purchasing 
representatives, yet supports an efficient process. 
 
 
Summary Statement of Policy: 
 
The policy is designed to serve as a guide for all purchases by Township employees and elected 
officials on behalf of Oshtemo Township. 
 
 
Actual Policy as Written: 
 
All purchases are ultimately the responsibility of the Township Supervisor and the Board of 
Trustees. Department Heads, and assigned employees shall be responsible for purchasing goods 
and services for their departments/area, such as for certain standard supplies and services. All 
purchases must be budgeted for, and properly documented, in accordance with this policy. Other 
than those specifically listed, Tthis policy does not afford anyone the ability to make purchases in 
excess of what has been budgeted for their specific department budget.   Purchasers shall not 
consider appropriations contained in the budget as a mandate to expend funds, nor does the budget 
constitute authorization to commit the Township to purchases, as such authorization originates 
from the provisions in this policy. This purchasing policy is based on dollar thresholds. The 
practice of separating the work of vendors into separate invoices to circumvent the policy is 
prohibited. The intention of this policy is to give Department Heads latitude to keep operations 
moving and for Department Heads to keep the Personnel Director apprised of operations and 
purchases.  
 
Purchases should be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder. Consideration shall be given to: 
quality of goods/services; conformity with specifications; suitability to the requirements of the 
township; delivery of goods; and past performance of vendor. The Township shall attempt to 
purchase the highest quality goods and services in the best interest of the Township. In this process, 
the Township shall serve as an equal opportunity purchaser, favoring local vendors only when all 
other factors are equal. 
 



  

2 

 

Department Heads and shall conduct monthly review of funds assigned to them and is responsible 
for reporting any variance to the Supervisor or his or her designee.  They shall provide a summary 
to the Supervisor as to the financial position and any variances of their department.  
 
 
 
Non-Discrimination Requirements: 
 
In accordance with the requirements of 1976 P.A. 453 (Michigan Civil Rights Act) and 1976 P.A. 
220 (Michigan Handicapped Rights Act) and the Oshtemo Charter Township Non-Discrimination 
Ordinance No. 549 adopted August 27, 2013, to the greatest extent possible, the Township will do 
business with vendors of goods and services which “do not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment with respect to hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of 
employment, or a matter directly or indirectly related to employment, because of race, color, 
religion, national origin, age, sex, height, weight, marital status, familial status, citizenship, gender 
identity, sexual orientation, genetic information, or because of a physical or mental 
disability/handicap that is unrelated to the person's ability to perform the duties of a particular job 
or position.  Any vendor found to not comply with these requirements shall be ineligible to do 
business with the Township. 
 
 

 
 
Authorization to Purchase: 
 
Purchasers are authorized and required to make purchases of goods or services through the formal 
requisition process using the purchase order program. Employees must get the following 
requisition authorization depending on the type of purchase they are requesting. Note: Supervisor, 
Treasurer or Clerk may determine any particular item can be presented for information to the 
Township Board. Department Heads will review budget monthly and submit reports, revisions and 
request amendments (useing electronic Budget Amendment  Journal Correcting Form – T Drive) 
to the Township Supervisor. Corrections will be submitted to the Township Clerk (using electronic 
Journal Correction Form – T Drive).  The Supervisor, Clerk and Treasurer will review the budget 
quarterly to verify purchases are being made in accordance with purchasing policy and annual 
budget. 
 

1) Purchases that have been budgeted for in the annual budget $2,000 or less: Purchaser 
initiates requisition using purchase order program, and Township Officials (or their 
designee) and Department Heads shall monitor sum of purchases for adherence to annual 
budget. The Township Supervisor, Treasurer, or Clerk must then review and approve the 
requisition. 
 

2) Purchases that have been budgeted for in the annual budget for operations (no maximum) 

or for capital items $2,000 - $10,000: Purchaser initiates requisition using purchase order 
program, and Township Officials (or their designee) and Department Heads shall monitor 



  

3 

 

sum of purchases for adherence to annual budget. The Township Supervisor, Treasurer, or 
Clerk must then review and approve the requisition. The Department Head must report this 
purchase to the Township Clerk requesting that the purchase be placed on the receipts and 
disbursements summary report issued monthly to the Township Board. 
 

3) Purchases that have been budgeted for in the annual budget for capital items >$10,000: 
Capital purchases that have been budgeted for in the annual budget, including but not limited 
to large capital items such as vehicle purchases, road construction, water construction, and 
sewer construction, shall not require further Township Board approval. These capital items 
will be detailed to the Township Board during the annual budget meeting process. These 
items will be included in the annual budget in the blue detail line items within each General 
Ledger category. Department Heads will provide a written update on the consent agenda or 
presentation at the meeting will be provided to the Board on the purchasing process used 
and the selected vendor or contractor. 
 

4) Purchases that have not been budgeted for in the annual budget, less than or equal to 

$2,000: Purchaser must first receive authorization from their Department Head and 
Supervisor, Clerk or Treasurer. Department Head /Supervisor and Township Official shall 
identify source of fund from the annual budget. Upon authorization, purchaser shall make 
requisition request using the purchase order program. The Township Board will be informed 
via receipts and disbursements reports, and the Board will make budget, line item, 
adjustments amendments for all such purchases no less than quarterly. 
 

5) Purchases that have not been detailed in the annual budget greater than $2,000, or 

purchases that end up costing more than the detailed amount in the annual budget: 

Purchaser must first receive recommendation from their Department Head and the 
Township Supervisor. The Township Board must then both approve the requisition and 
amend the annual budget. Purchaser then creates requisition in the purchase order program. 

 
Using the above guidelines, a purchase order must be generated before the purchase is made. 
 
There are three means by which the Township selects a service provider or material product. These 
are: a) sealed bids, b) informal quotes, and c) sole source purchasing. Refer to detail on each, 
below. It is the practice of Oshtemo Township to provide vendors with fair and equal opportunities 
to compete for work. Summaries shall state method used. Department Heads will review the 
method of procurement for vendor or service providers with the Township Supervisor. 
 
 
Selecting Vendors/Service Providers: 
 
A. Sealed Bid Procedure: 
 
Sealed bids may be obtained using a request for proposal (RFP), a set of detailed specifications, 
or contract documents (plans and specifications). Publication or communication of proper notice 
of the need for bids shall be arranged for in the manner which will bring the information to the 
attention of appropriate professionals, contractors, or vendors. A minimum of three bids are 



  

4 

 

recommended for all purchases over $10,000. Employees may choose to seek multiple bids for 
purchases less than or equal to $10,000 as well. The Township may choose to forego the bidding 
procedure due to circumstances that would result in a savings to the Township and if the quality 
of services provided will not be diminished due to the lack of bidding. 
 
All bids received by the Township will be time/date stamped when received. All bids must be 
sealed when received; unsealed bids will not be accepted. Bids will be opened by the Township 
Supervisor or personnel appointed by the Supervisor at the place and time described in the bid 
advertisement and shall be open to the public. Once the bid opening process is complete, staff will 
prepare a written purchase recommendation. If approved, staff will inform the winning bidder. The 
Township reserves the right to reject any and all bids and is not required to accept the lowest bid. 
In general, the Township works in accordance with the Qualifications-Based Selection (QBS)*. 
 
(*From online: “Qualifications-Based Selection (QBS) is a procurement process established by 
the United States Congress as a part of the Brooks Act[1] (Public Law 92-582; see also 40 USC 
1101 et. seq.)[2] and further developed as a process for public agencies to use for the selection of 
architectural and engineering services for public construction projects. It is a competitive contract 
procurement process whereby consulting firms submit qualifications to a procuring entity (owner) 
who evaluates and selects the most qualified firm, and then negotiates the project scope of work, 
schedule, budget, and consultant fee.” Additional information on QBS in Michigan is available at 
www.qbs-mi.org). 
 
B. Quoting Procedure: 
 
Quotes may be obtained by means of discussion and/or written outline scope of services 
request.  A minimum of three quotes from professionals, contractors, or vendors is recommended 
for substantive purchases. The Township may choose to forego the quoting procedure due to 
circumstances that would result in a savings to the Township and if the quality of services provided 
will not be diminished due to the lack of quoting. 
 
All quotes received by the Supervisor’s Office or designee will be time/date stamped when 
received. Quotes do not need to be sealed. Quotes may be opened at the time they are received. 
The approving party must approve or deny all purchases that have been quoted according to 
purchasing standards previously stated. The Township reserves the right to reject any and all 
quotes and is not required to accept the lowest quote. In general, the Township works in accordance 
with the quality based selection on all quotes. 
 
C. Sole Source Purchasing: 
 
In recognition that certain products and services are clearly superior and/or compatible with 
township operations, the approving party may determine that a specific product or vendor be the 
sole source of purchasing for the Township. In doing so, the items will be purchased without a 
formal bidding process. Examples of sole source purchasing include engineering, information 
technology, insurances, and auditing services. 
 
 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Congress
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brooks_Act
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Qualifications-Based_Selection#cite_note-1
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Qualifications-Based_Selection#cite_note-2
http://www.qbs-mi.org/


  

5 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Purchaser will periodically evaluate composite billings and compare sole source vendor with other 
vendors, for comparison of pricing and quality, and provide summary of review and decision. 
Suggested review period is every three years. 
 
 
Methods of Payment 
 
Petty Cash: 
 
Miscellaneous purchases under $25 may be made using the petty cash fund in accordance with this 
policy. Petty cash is maintained by the Treasurer. Receipts must be submitted to the Treasurer for 
reimbursement. The Treasurer shall keep petty cash in his/her office and may designate additional 
areas in which petty cash may kept; e.g., in the Fire Department. 
 
The Treasurer will review petty cash disbursements prior to replenishing the fund. Records of 
pretty cash distribution will be kept in the Treasurer’s office and are available at all times for 
review. 
 
Checks: 
 
Checks are the standard form of payment from the Township. A check will be issued through the 
purchase order process, unless another form of payment is requested.  
 
Credit Cards (for employee use): 
 
When no other payment method is available, Township credit cards may be used to make purchases 
from vendors where credit terms are not available (such as travel) as well as for one time non 
routine items. Treasurer manages credit card availability to employees. Please see the Township’s 
Credit Card Policy. Purchaser must submit detailed receipt to Clerk’s office.  
 
Purchases made on credit cards are subject to transaction and credit limits established for each 
individual card. A minimum transaction of five dollars ($5) is required for all credit card 
transactions. 
 
Contracts: 
 
In general, all contracts are approved through the Township Supervisor who by law is the 
purchasing agent for the Township. The Supervisor signs the contracts and may do so if signature 
aligns with purchasing policy herein (budget) and state law. The Treasurer and Clerk co-sign the 
payments. 
 
 
 



  

6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Education and Training: 
 
The employee’s Department Head shall approve all requests for continuing education, 
conferences, and external training, prior to registration. Department Head shall approve based on 
annual budgeted education/training line item and shall not exceed the annual appropriated amount 
without budget amendment per previous guidelines. 
 
Cooperative Government Contracts: 
 
Should the Township be able to secure quality products at favorable prices by joining with other 
local units of government, or participating in a State of Michigan or federal government purchasing 
program, the Township Supervisor may waive the formal bidding process. 
 
Emergency Purchases: 
 
Emergency purchases can be authorized only when health, safety, and/or welfare of Township 
residents or their property are endangered through unexpected circumstances, when normal 
operations of the Township would be severely hampered by a long delay, or when Township 
property or employees are endangered through unexpected circumstances. Normal purchasing 
procedures outlined in this policy may be suspended when such circumstances exist. In the case 
of an emergency situation, the Township Supervisor, Treasurer, Clerk, Fire Chief, or Maintenance 
Director can authorize the immediate purchase of any materials, supplies, equipment, or services 
needed to resolve the emergency situation. The Supervisor will report all emergency purchases to 
the Township Board at its next scheduled meeting. 
 
Change Orders (Within Annual Budget Detail): 
 
Staff & Supervisor are expected to document all change orders through the purchase order program 
in excess of 10% of the original contracted price. Approval is subject to Supervisor review and 
approval and availability of funds. 
 
Change Orders: (Outside Annual Budget Detail): 
 
Supervisor or Staff will include up to an additional 10% of contract or specified lump sum amount 
in all project budgets for capital projects when submitting request to Township Board to award 
contract. Request will identify source of payment funds. As with any other budget approval, Board 
approval shall be subject to monies availability in either annual budget or in Township reserves. 
Subsequently, Supervisor can approve change orders within the additional approved budget 
amount. Supervisor shall work in consultation with consultants and/or Staff to make determination. 
 
 
 
 



  

7 

 

Tax Exempt Status: 
 
Section 4 of the General Sales Tax Act, MCL 205.54(5); MSA 7.524(5) and Michigan Sales and 
Use Tax Rule, 1979 AC, R205.79, provide that sales to the United States Government, the State 
of Michigan and their political subdivisions, departments and institutions are not taxable when 
ordered and paid for by warrant on government funds. In the alternative, the government may 
claim exemption at the time of purchase by providing the seller with a signed statement to the 
effect that the purchaser is a governmental entity. Statement is available upon request from the 
Clerk’s office. 
 
Forms: 
 
Every Township vendor is required to complete an IRS W-9 form or have this form on record prior 
to the release of payment for goods and services. 
 
Documentation: 
 
When a purchase order is requested all supporting documentation should be attached to the 
requisition within the purchase order program (bids, board resolution, etc.). Once a purchase order 
requisition is approved, all invoices for goods and services will be attached in the accounts payable 
program. 
 
This policy will be in effect upon adoption by the Township Board and will remain in effect until 
rescinded by the Township Board. Revisions or amendments must be approved by the Township 
Board, and must be recorded in writing and maintained with this original policy by the Township 
Clerk. This policy, and all subsequent amendments, will be provided by the Clerk to all Township 
Board members, Department Heads, and employees. 
 
 
 

A motion was made by Zak Ford, seconded by Nancy Culp, to adopt the restatement of the 
Purchasing Policy. 

 

Upon the call for a vote, the following voted "Aye": 

  Elizabeth Heiny-Cogswell, Dusty Farmer, Nancy Culp, 
  Dave Bushouse, Deborah Everett, Zak Ford and Ken Hudok 
 
 The following voted "Nay":    None 
 

The following "Abstained": None 
 
The following were Absent: None 

 



  

8 

 

The Supervisor declared that the motion has been adopted. 

 

__________________________________ 
DUSTY FARMER, Clerk 
Oshtemo Charter Township 
 

 

********************************************************** 

 CERTIFICATE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of an Excerpt of 
the Minutes of a meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Board, held on November 13, 2018, 
at which meeting all members were present and voted upon the same as indicated in said Minutes; 
that said meeting was held in accordance with the Open Meetings Act of the State of Michigan. 

________________________________________ 
DUSTY FARMER, Township Clerk 



7275 W. Main Street  
Kalamazoo, MI 49009 

(269) 216-5220 
Fax (269) 375-7180 
www.oshtemo.org 

Memorandum 

Date:  May 21, 2019 

To:   Township Board 

From:  Deb Everett, Supervisor’s Office 

Subject:   Budget Calendar 

______________________________________________________________________ 

Objective:  Amend 2019 Township Board meeting schedule in order to align with the 
2020 budget development.  

Background:  The board meets with and receives input from each department in the  
form of Accomplishments met for the previous year, Goals for the current 
year, and Vision for the next year.  Supervisor, Clerk and Treasurer also  
provide budget needs for their respective offices.  To provide time for  
meaningful board discussion, four budget work sessions are scheduled. 

Attachments:  Proposed 2019 Oshtemo Township Board Meeting Date Amendments 
Calendar for 2020 Budget Development 

Item 4c



Board action to revise 5‐25‐2019  

2019 Oshtemo Township Board Meeting Dates 
 

All meetings begin at 6 pm with a Work Session. and 
at 7:15 pm for the Regular Meeting. unless noted otherwise. 

 
 

January 8 
January 22 - IT Work Session with Other Business - 6 pm 

 
February 12 
February 26 

 
March 12 
March 26 

 
April 9 

April 16th - Board Meeting - Joint Boards - 6 pm 
April 23 - IT   Work Session with Other Business - 6 pm 

 
May 14 

May 28th 
 

June 11 – Budget Work Session & Other Business – 6:00 p.m. 
June 24 – Budget Workshop 8:00 am 

June 25 
 

July 9 
July 23 - IT Work Session  Budget Work Session & Other Business - 6 pm 

 
August 13 

August 26 – Budget Work Session – 1:00 pm  
August 27 

 
September 10 - Budget Work Session - 5 pm & Regular Meeting 7:15 pm  

September 24- Budget Work Session & Other Business - 4:00 pm 
 

October 8 
October 15th - Board Meeting - Joint Boards - 6 pm 

October 22 
 

November 12 
November 26  - IT Work Session with Other Business - 6 pm  

December 10 

 



2019 Oshtemo Township Board Meeting Dates
(As amended May 28, 2019)

All meetings begin at 6pm with a Wofu Session
at 7:75om forthe Reqular Meetinq. unless noted otherwise

January 8
January 22 -lf Work Session with Other Bushess-6 pm

February 12

February 26

March 12
March 26

Aprit 9
April 16th - Board Meeting - Joint Boards -6 pm

Ap ril23 - lT Work Sessbn with Other Business -6 pm

June 'l 1 - Budget \A/ork Session & Other Business - 6:00 p.m
June 24 - Budget \A/orkshop 8:00 am

June 25

July 9
July23-Budget Work Session & Other Business-6 pm

August 1 3
August 26 - Budget Work Session - 1 :00 pm

August 27

September 10
September24

October 8
October 7 Sth - Board Meeting - JointBoards -6 pm

October 22

November 12

November26 - fiWorkSession with OtherBushess-6 pm

December "10

Boord oction to revise 5-25-2019

May 14
May 28th



 

 

Oshtemo Charter Township 

Calendar for 2020 Budget Development  
May 23, 2019 

 

May – Aug. 2019 Capital Improvement Plan - updates 

June 3rd (week) Notification to committees/departments/staff of 2020 budget process and schedule 
Supervisor & Clerk distribute budget calendar, worksheets, GL online access 

June  Assessor & Treasurer provide revenue information to Supervisor    

May – June 11th Departments develop “2018 Accomplishments, 2019 Goals, 2020 Vision” (“AGV” one-
page summaries)   

June 11th – 6:00 p.m. First Budget Meeting - Departments present AGV summaries at Township Board 
meetings; Board Prioritization Discussion 

June 24th – 8:00 a.m. Second Budget Meeting - Departments present AGV summaries at Township Board 
meetings; Board Prioritization Discussion 

July 18th DDA develops proposed budget and submits to Township Supervisor  
(Sept. 1st   deadline) 

June - July SoDA develops proposed budget and submits to Township Supervisor  
(Aug 1st deadline) 

June 1st – June 28th Offices, Departments & Boards create Requested Budget in respective GL   

June 1st – Aug 13th Supervisor reviews with Departments & CPA, and creates Recommended Budget in GL 

July 23rd  – 6:00 p.m. Third Budget Meeting - Planning, Assessing, Parks, Ordinance Enforcement & Police 

Aug. 26th – 1:00 p.m. Fourth Budget Meeting – Fire, Maintenance, Public Works, Capital Improvement Plan 

By Sept. 30th Assessor & Treasurer submit L-4029 millage levy to County  

Sept. 10th Township Board sets Public Hearing; Township Board considers SMBA budget  

Sept. 12th (Friday) Supervisor provides budget information to attorney’s office for notice prep  

Oct. 24th Township sends Notice of Public Hearing for publication in community newspaper 

Oct. 24th Budgets are available for public inspection (at least ten days before hearing) 

Oct. 31st Notice of Township Public Hearing published in community newspaper (published on 
home delivery day)  

Nov. 12th (Tues., 7:15 pm) Township Board Public Hearing on 2020 General and Special Revenue Funds Budget  

Nov. 21st DDA adopts 2020 Budget   

Nov. (TBD) SoDA adopts 2020 Budget  

 

OFFICES: SUPERVISOR, CLERK, TREASURER, TRUSTEES 
DEPARTMENTS: PLANNING, ASSESSING, LEGAL, FIRE, MAINTENANCE, POLICE (PROTECTION CONTRACT; PARKING ENF; ORD ENF), 
PUBLIC WORKS  
BOARDS: DDA, SODA  
T: Drive\SUPERVISOR SHARED\township board\budget\2020 Budget\2019 5-23 FINAL  calendar for 2020 budget 

development.docx 

file://///oshtemo-fp1/VOL2/SUPERVISOR%20SHARED/township%20board/budget/2019%20Budget/2018%206-12%20calendar%20for%202019%20budget%20development.docx
file://///oshtemo-fp1/VOL2/SUPERVISOR%20SHARED/township%20board/budget/2019%20Budget/2018%206-12%20calendar%20for%202019%20budget%20development.docx


 

Memo 
To: Oshtemo Charter Township Board 

From: Julie Johnston, AICP 
 Planning Director 
 
Date: May 22, 2019 

Mtg Date: May 28, 2019 

Subject: Agritourism Ordinance – Second Reading 

 
OBJECTIVE 
 
Consideration of the Agribusiness/Agritourism Ordinance for second reading and final approval. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Township Board held a public hearing for the Agribusiness/Agritourism Ordinance on May 14, 2019.  
No members of the audience spoke at the meeting.  The Ordinance was approved unanimously (one 
absent) for second reading with the inclusion of a definition for Retail Special Event, which has been added. 
 
The Agribusiness/Agritourism Ordinance is the first of its kind for Oshtemo Township, offering more 
opportunities and flexibility for properties zoned Agricultural and Rural Residential.  It is designed to provide 
those who either produce an agricultural product or live in the rural area and meet certain criteria the 
prospect of generating some supplementary revenue from their property.  The objective is to offer additional 
options for these property owners without impeding the enjoyment of the area’s rural character.  It is not 
the objective of the ordinance to allow commercial operations within the rural area of the Township and 
therefore, some uses, like special events, have been limited. 
 
It is also the intent that this ordinance will assist in implementing the Township’s Master Plan.  During the 
public meetings of the 2017 Master Plan Update, residents in the rural areas indicated a desire to preserve 
property, but needed a revenue source to assist with this preservation.  In addition, those that produced an 
agricultural product wanted other opportunities that would help to support their farming operations. In 
response to these requests, the Rural Character Preservation Strategy chapter includes a goal to 
recognize, preserve, protect, and expand the study area’s important and valued agricultural lands and 
enterprises.  The following action strategy was developed related to this goal, as follows: 
 



Oshtemo Township Board 
Agribusiness/Agritourism Ordinance 
05/22/2019 
 
 

 
Action Strategy AG-1: Review and amend the zoning ordinance, as necessary, to allow agritourism 
and agribusiness within the AG and/or RR Districts, with appropriate development restrictions to ensure 
compatibility with adjacent land uses and available public services.  

 
The development of the Agribusiness/Agritourism Ordinance is in response to this strategy.   
 
The Planning Commission began working on this Ordinance in April of 2018.  On December 13, 2018, they 
held a public input session to garner resident concerns prior to the required public hearing.  The Planning  
Commission heard from several local agricultural producers and due to their input, made changes to the 
proposed Ordinance in January and February of 2019.  The statutory public hearing was held on March 
28, 2019 where a motion to recommend approval to the Township Board was unanimously accepted.  
 
After moving the Ordinance to the Township Board, two work sessions were held on April 9th and 23rd, 
prior to first reading on May 14th.  At this time, staff is requesting final approval of the proposed 
Ordinance. 
 
INFORMATION PROVIDED 

 
• Agritourism Ordinance 
 



1 
 

 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO. ___ 
 
 Adopted: _____________, 2019  
 
 Effective: ____________, 2019 
 
 
 OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE  
 
 
 An Ordinance to amend the Oshtemo Charter Township Zoning Ordinance to address 

agribusiness/agritourism to provide definitions related to agribusiness/agritourism, select those zoning 

districts in which to locate agribusinesses and agritourism facilities and to classify these uses as 

permitted and/or as a special use, establish conditions to be applied to permitted uses for agribusiness 

and agritourism Category 1 facilities and establish conditions for special uses for agritourism, Category 2 

and Category 3 facilities.  This Ordinance repeals all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict. 

 
 
 
 THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO 

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
 ORDAINS: 
 
 
 
SECTION I. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 2: CONSTRUCTION OF 

LANGUAGE AND DEFINITIONS, SECTION 2.20 DEFINITIONS.  Article 2: Construction of 

Language and Definitions, Section 2.20 Definitions is hereby amended to add the 

following definitions to read as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 2: CONSTRUCTION OF LANGUAGE AND DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 2.20 Definitions 

 
Agribusiness: Any business catering exclusively to agricultural production, which may include, but is 
not limited to, supplying services or goods (such as feed or supplies) to producers of marketable 
agricultural products like greenhouses, nurseries, and farm cooperatives. 
 
Agriculture: The science, art, or occupation of cultivating land, raising crops, and feeding, breeding, 
and raising livestock. 
 
Agriculture building: A structure designed and constructed to house farm implements, hay, grain, 
poultry, livestock, or other horticultural products and that is clearly accessory to the agricultural 
activity on site. 
 
Agriculture operation: The production, harvesting, and storage of farm products including the land, 
plants, animals, buildings, structures, ponds, machinery, equipment, and other appurtenances used 
in the production of farm goods as a source of income. 
 
Agricultural products: Includes but is not limited to, crops (corn, wheat, hay, potatoes); fruit (apples, 
peaches, grapes, cherries, berries, etc.); cider; vegetables (sweet corn, pumpkins, tomatoes, etc.); 



2 
 

floriculture; herbs; forestry; husbandry; livestock and livestock products (cattle, sheep, hogs, horses, 
poultry, ostriches, emus, farmed deer, farmed buffalo, milk, eggs, and fur, etc.); aquaculture 
products (fish, fish products, water plants and shellfish); horticultural specialties (nursery stock, 
ornamental shrubs, flowers and Christmas trees); maple sap, etc. 
 
Agricultural special event (Agritourism Category 2): A planned and organized education, 
entertainment, or recreation occasion or activity that brings the public to the agricultural operation, 
whether or not the participant paid to take part in the special event, provided said event is solely 
provided by the agritourism property owner. 
 
Agriculturally related products: Items sold at a farm to attract customers and promote the sale of 
agricultural products. Such items include, but are not limited to, all agricultural and horticultural 
products, animal feed, baked goods, ice cream and ice cream-based desserts and beverages, jams, 
honey, food stuffs, and other items promoting the farm and on-site production. 
 
Agriculturally related uses:  Those activities that predominantly use agricultural products, buildings 
or equipment, such as pony rides, corn mazes, pumpkin rolling, sleigh/hay rides, and educational 
events, such as farming and food preserving classes, etc.  
 
Agritourism: An agriculturally based operation or activity that brings public to a working farm for the 
purpose of enjoyment, education, or active involvement in the farm operation. Agritourism 
enterprises are further classified as follows:  

 
a. Agritourism, Category 1: An agritourism enterprise limited to u-pick fruits and vegetable 

operations, direct on-farm product sales, and farm markets.  
 
b. Agritourism, Category 2: An agritourism enterprise that includes education, 

entertainment, agricultural related uses and products, and limited non-agricultural 
related uses and products including: educational tours; historical agricultural exhibits; 
educational classes, lectures and seminars; petting farms, animal display and pony rides; 
outdoor mazes of agricultural origin, such as straw bales or corn; wagon, sleigh and 
hayrides; nature trails; outdoor picnic areas; and, other similar uses.  

 
c. Agritourism, Category 3: An agritourism enterprise that utilizes the rural character or 

agricultural buildings on site for nonresidential special events or activities, including:  
educational tours, classes, lectures, and seminars; celebratory gatherings such as 
weddings; retail events such as farm markets, barn markets, and agricultural sales; day 
camps; and, other similar special events or activities. 

 
Farm market: The sale of agricultural products directly to the consumer from a site on a working 
farm or any agricultural, horticultural or agribusiness operation or agricultural land.  This definition 
includes farm stands and roadside stands. 
 
Holiday events/festivals (Agritourism Category 2 and 3):  Nationally recognized or official public 
holidays, and/or observation of cultural traditions. 
 
Non-agriculturally related products: Items not connected to farming or the farm operation, such as 
novelty t-shirts or other clothing, crafts and knick-knacks imported from other states or countries, 
etc. 

 
Non-agriculturally related uses: Activities that are part of an agricultural tourism operation’s total 
offerings but not tied to farming. Such non-agriculturally related uses include amusement rides, 
concerts, special events, etc.   

 
Retail special event (Agritourism Category 2 and 3):  A planned retail sales activity which brings the 
public to the property to allow vendors to sell their products for a set period of time. 

 
Seasonal: A recurrent period characterized by certain occurrences, festivities, or crops; harvest, 
when crops are ready; not all year round. 
 
U-Pick: A fruit or vegetable-growing farm that provides the opportunity for customers to pick their 
own fruits or vegetables directly from the plant. 
 



3 
 

Wedding/Celebratory event (Agritourism Category 2 and 3): observation of a special social occasion 
such as a wedding, birthday, cultural traditions, etc., where people meet to commemorate and 
revel. 
 
 

SECTION II. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 4: AG: AGRICULTURAL 

DISTRICT, SECTION 4.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS.  Article 4: AGRICULTURAL 

DISTRICT, Section 4.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS is hereby amended to add 

the following paragraphs to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 4: AG: AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 
 

4.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS 
 

C. Agribusiness 
 D. Agritourism, Category 1 
 
 
SECTION III. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 4: AG: AGRICULTURAL 

DISTRICT, SECTION 4.40 SPECIAL USES.  Article 4: AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT, Section 4.40 

SPECIAL USES is hereby amended to add the following paragraphs to read as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 4: AG: AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT 

 
4.40 SPECIAL USES 
 

J. Agritourism, Category 2 
K. Agritourism, Category 3 

 
 
 
SECTION IV. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 5: RR – RURAL RESIDENTIAL 

DISTRICT, SECTION 5.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS.  Article 5: RR – RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, Section 5.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS is hereby 

amended to add the following paragraphs to read as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 5: RR – RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

 
5.30 PERMITTED USES WITH CONDITIONS 
 

D. Agribusiness 
 E. Agritourism, Category 1 
 
 
SECTION V. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 5: RR – RURAL RESIDENTIAL 

DISTRICT, SECTION 5.40 SPECIAL USES.  Article 5: RR – RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, 

Section 5.40 SPECIAL USES is hereby amended to add the following paragraphs to read 

as follows: 

 
 



4 
 

ARTICLE 5: RR – RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
 

5.40 SPECIAL USES 
 

N. Agritourism, Category 2 
O. Agritourism, Category 3 

 
SECTION VI. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 48: CONDITIONS FOR 

SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES, BY ADDITION OF NEW SECTION 48.10.  Article 48: 

CONDITIONS FOR SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES, Section 48.10 is hereby amended to add 

the following paragraphs to read as follows and to renumber the subsequent 

paragraphs: 

 
ARTICLE 48: CONDITIONS FOR SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES 
 
48.10 AGRIBUSINESS 
 

1. Application Narrative. A written narrative will be provided with any application describing 
the use in detail, including all the types of items, goods and merchandise that are proposed 
to be sold; the proposed hours of operation; measures that are to be taken to assure that 
the operation of the use will take place only in a safe and convenient manner; and other 
information describing the use and which will assist the reviewing body in determining 
whether the application meets the conditional use requirements.  

 
2. Exemptions. Generally recognized agricultural operations, which are not involved with the 

retail sales of goods to other agricultural producers, are exempt from these standards. 
 

3. Building Floor Area.  
 

a. Total building floor area for the agribusiness shall not exceed 2,000 square feet. 
 

b. The maximum portion of any building used for agribusiness sales shall not exceed 600 
square feet. 

 
4. Outdoor Storage. Outdoor storage of agribusiness materials shall be limited to 1,000 square 

feet and shall be located in the rear yard only. 
 
5. Road Access. Access to an agribusiness use must be from the County primary road or State 

highway, unless approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
6. Parking. On-site vehicle parking shall be provided on agribusiness property as follows: 

 
a. The total number of required spaces shall be calculated as one space for every 1,000 

square feet of the total building floor area, plus one space for every two employees. This 
shall not include areas dedicated to agricultural production.  

 
b. Parking lots shall be clearly demarcated through some physical means like timbers, 

fences, stakes, etc. 
 
c. The on-site parking shall be arranged so no vehicle movements occur in the public right-

of-way and to avoid the accumulation of parked cars on the public roads.  
 
d. Parking and driveway surfaces may be pervious or hard surface. 

 
7. Education-Oriented Activities. Events and/or activities which bring the public to the property 

for the sole purpose of participation, learning, or involvement in the agricultural operation 
are permitted if they meet the following criteria: 



5 
 

 
i. Are limited to a one-day event no more than five times throughout a 12-month period. 

 
ii. Have not more than 50 participants on the property at any one time during the one-day 

event. 
 
8. Impact. If the proposed agribusiness use would cause undue impacts to surrounding 

properties related to drainage, traffic, noise, or other general health and safety issues, as 
determined by the Planning Director, or if the size of the agribusiness exceeds the 
maximums allowed herein, review and approval by the Planning Commission as a Special 
Use shall be required. 

 
 
SECTION VII. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 48: CONDITIONS FOR 

SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES, BY ADDITION OF NEW SECTION 48.20.  Article 48: 

CONDITIONS FOR SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES, Section 48.20 is hereby amended to add 

the following paragraphs to read as follows and to renumber the subsequent 

paragraphs: 

 
ARTICLE 48: CONDITIONS FOR SPECIFIC PERMITTED USES 
 
48.20 AGRITOURISM, CATEGORY 1 
 

1. Application Narrative. A written narrative describing the use in detail, including the proposed 
hours of operation; measures that are to be taken to assure that the operation of the use will 
take place only in a safe and convenient manner; and other information describing the use and 
which will assist the reviewing body in determining whether the application meets the 
conditional use requirements. 

2. Exemptions.  
 
a. Generally recognized agricultural operations, which are not involved with the retail sales of 

goods to the public, are exempt from these standards. 
 

b. Farm markets with a sales area of 200 square feet or less, seasonal in nature, and where no 
permanent structure exists, are exempt from this ordinance. 

 
3. Floor Area, Building and Outdoor Storage. The maximum area for farm markets shall be 3,000 

square feet, which includes both the floor area of the building and the outdoor storage/display. 
Farm markets larger than 3,000 square feet shall be a Special Use reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission. 
 

4. Setbacks. Farm market buildings equal to or less than 200 square feet in size shall be located not 
closer than 15 feet from the road right-of-way line or 25 feet from the edge of pavement, 
whichever is greater. Farm market buildings greater than 200 square feet in size shall comply 
with the minimum required setback distances for the district in which such building is located. 
 

5. Retail Sales. 
 
a. At least 75 percent of the products marketed and offered for sale (measured as an average 

over the farm’s marketing season) must be grown or produced on and by the affiliated farm. 
For purposes of this requirement, affiliated means a farm under the same ownership or 
control (e.g. leased) as the farm market whether or not the farm market is located on the 
property where production occurs. 

 



6 
 

b. The remainder 25 percent of products sold must be agriculturally related products as 
defined by Section 11: Definitions. 

 
c. For purposes of determining the percentage of products being marketed, the primary 

measure will be retail space used to display products offered for retail sale during the 
affiliated farm’s marketing season. If measurement of retail space during the marketing 
season is not feasible, then the percent of the gross sales dollars of the farm market will be 
used. 

 
6. Education-Oriented Activities. Events and/or activities which bring the public to the property for 

the sole purpose of participation, learning, or involvement in the agricultural operation are 
permitted if they meet the following criteria: 
 

i. Are limited to a one-day event no more than five times throughout a 12-month period. 
 

ii. Have not more than 50 participants on the property at any one time during the one-day 
event. 

 
7. Road Access. Access to an agritourism use must be from the County primary road or State 

highway, unless approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

8. Parking. On-site vehicle parking shall be provided on agritourism property as follows: 
 
a. Parking lots shall be clearly demarcated through some physical means like timbers, fences, 

stakes, etc. 
 

b. The on-site parking shall be arranged so no vehicle movements occur in the public right-of-
way and to avoid the accumulation of parked cars on the public roads.  
 

c. Parking and driveway surfaces may be pervious or hard surface. 
 

9. Impacts. If the proposed agritourism use would cause undue impacts to surrounding properties 
related to drainage, traffic, noise, or other general health and safety issues, as determined by 
the Planning Director, review and approval by the Planning Commission as a Special Use shall be 
required. 

 
 
SECTION VIII. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SPECIAL USES, BY ADDITION OF NEW SECTION 49.10.  Article 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SPECIAL USES, Section 49.10 is hereby amended to add the following paragraphs to read 

as follows and to renumber the subsequent paragraphs: 

 
ARTICLE 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
49.10 AGRITOURISM, CATEGORY 2 
 

1. Application Narrative. A written narrative describing the use in detail, including both 
agriculturally related and non-agriculturally related products and uses; proposed hours of 
operation; measures that are to be taken to assure that the operation of the use will take place 
only in a safe and convenient manner; special events; and other information describing the use 
and which will assist the Planning Commission in determining whether the application meets the 
Special Use requirements. 
 

2. Exemption. Generally recognized agricultural operations, which are not involved with the retail 
sales of goods or any public activities, are exempt from these standards. 
 
 



7 
 

3. General Standards. 
 

a. Parcel size. Parcels must be a minimum of 10 acres.  The Planning Commission may consider 
a smaller parcel size depending on the agritourism uses planned.  Their consideration of a 
smaller parcel size will be based on the intensity and scale of the proposed agritourism use, 
compatibility with surrounding property owners, and will be harmonious with the existing 
character of the area. 
 

b. Maximum floor area. The maximum floor area for all buildings related to the agritourism use 
shall be 10,000 square feet.  Clusters of smaller, architecturally appropriate structures are 
encouraged to maintain rural character of the agritourism use.  This maximum floor area 
does not include greenhouses. 
 

c. Outdoor storage/display. The maximum area for the storage/display of agricultural products 
for sale shall be one acre.  This requirement does not apply to u-pick operations. 
 

d. Architectural character. All buildings shall incorporate a rural theme in terms of style and 
design.  This means new agritourism uses involving new structures shall complement and 
enhance the rural environment.  For example, gable or gambrel roofs, roof ornamentation 
such as cupolas, dormers, porches, and decorative shutters. 
 

e. New uses and buildings. New uses and buildings shall be located, designed and operated so 
as not to interfere with normal agricultural practices on and off site. Non-agricultural uses 
should be limited to lands with poor agricultural soils or lands otherwise not suitable for 
agricultural purposes.  
 

f. Use and product percentages. Agricultural products produced on site, agriculturally related 
products and uses, and non-agriculturally related products and uses are permitted based on 
the following percentages: 

 
i. At least 50 percent of the products (measured as an average over the farm’s marketing 

season) and uses marketed and offered must be grown or produced on and by or have a 
direct relationship with the affiliated farm. For purposes of this requirement, affiliated 
means a farm under the same ownership or control (e.g. leased) as the farm market 
whether or not the farm market is located on the property where production occurs. 

 
ii. A maximum of 30 percent of the products and uses marketed and offered may be other 

agriculturally related products and uses as defined by Section 11: Definitions. 
 
iii. A maximum of 20 percent of the products and uses marketed and offered may be non-

agriculturally related products and uses as defined by Section 11: Definitions. 
 
iv. For purposes of determining the percentage of products and uses being marketed and 

offered, the primary measure will be square footage of space used for each individual 
product or use. If measurement of retail space during the marketing season is not 
feasible to determine percentage of product, then the percent of the gross sales dollars 
will be used. 
 

g. Parking. On-site vehicle parking shall be provided on agribusiness property as follows: 
 
i. The total number of required spaces shall be calculated as one space for every 1,000 

square feet of the main public activity area, plus one space for every two employees. 
The main public activity areas shall be defined as the primary buildings and outdoor 
spaces where the public congregates for the agritourism use. This shall not include areas 
dedicated to agricultural production.  
 

ii. 24-foot two-way or 20-foot one-way circulation aisles shall be maintained.  To ensure 
drive aisles are maintained, the location of parking spaces shall be defined by providing 
some type of marker at the center of the space to be placed every 64 feet for two-way 
traffic and 60 feet for one-way traffic. 



8 
 

 
iii. Parking lots shall be clearly demarcated through some physical means like timbers, 

fences, stakes, etc. 
 

iv. The on-site parking shall be arranged so no vehicle movements occur in the public right-
of-way and to avoid the accumulation of parked cars on the public roads.  
 

v. Parking and driveway surfaces may be pervious or hard surface. 
 

vi. Accessible spaces must be provided in accordance with the requirements of Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990, utilizing the most current design standards. 
 

vii. The Planning Commission may reduce or defer the number required parking spaces if 
the applicant provides a parking study that demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the 
Planning Commission, that a reduced number of parking spaces will meet the parking 
needs of the Agritourism uses.  If parking is deferred, the location of those deferred 
spaces must be shown as such on the required site plan.  

 
h. Lighting. Any exterior lighting installed related to an agritourism use or activity shall be 

appropriately shielded and directed downwards to minimize light pollution.  All lighting shall 
meet the standards of Section 78.720: Outdoor Lighting Standards. 
 

i. Trash receptacles. Trash receptacles shall be provided. If dumpsters are provided, they shall 
be placed on a hard surface and shall be completely obscured from view by a screen fence 
or wall.  
 

j. Screening. Opaque screening, consisting of an earth berm, evergreen screen, or an 
obscuring wall or fence, shall be provided near the primary public activity areas on those 
sides abutting or adjacent to a residential use. The use of natural landscape materials is 
encouraged. The Planning Commission may waive the screening requirement in specific 
cases where cause can be shown that the distance between the agritourism and residential 
use would not require screening. 
 

k. Restroom facilities. Public restroom facilities, temporary or permanent, shall be provided on 
site in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, utilizing the most 
current accessibility standards.   
 

l. Maximum capacity. The Fire Marshall or Building Official shall establish a maximum 
occupant capacity for meetings, training, educational or similar events which shall be 
appropriate to the site and facilities in terms of safe capacity in buildings, parking area and 
sanitation limitations of the site.  
 

m. Hours of operation. Hours or operation must be provided by the applicant. The Planning 
Commission may alter the requested hours of operation for the agritourism uses, or specific 
elements thereof, consistent with the character of the land uses in the vicinity and may 
further approve an enforcement mechanism to ensure adherence to the established hours 
of operation.  
 

n. Access. Access to an agritourism use must be from the County primary road or State 
highway, unless approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

o. Livestock. The keeping of livestock for agritourism purposes shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 78.400: Keeping of poultry, swine, horses, or livestock. 
 

4. Agritourism Special Events. 
 

a. The following table outlines the type and number of Agritourism Special Events allowed 
throughout a typical calendar year, beginning on January 1st. 
 

 



9 
 

 
 

Event Type Event Size 
(persons) 

Number of 
Consecutive 

Days  

Days between 
any Event* 

Total Number of 
Events per Year 

Educational classes, 
lectures, seminars, and 
day camps 

1-20 5 2 15 
21-50 3 4 10 

Over 50  
(max 100) 2 10 5 

Retail events N/A 2 30 3 

Holiday events/festivals N/A 2 60 3 

*Must follow the maximum number of days between events. 
 

b. The agritourism operator/property owner shall submit the annual list of the special events 
to the Planning Commission for review within 30-days of the first requested event.  The 
Planning Commission may eliminate a special event if said event would be unduly disruptive 
to the general peace and enjoyment of the rural and/or residential character of the 
surrounding area. 
 

c. The special event must be related to and enhance the primary agritourism use of the 
property.  
 

d. A reserved parking area shall be provided on-site to be utilized for special events.  If the 
agritourism use intends to hold special events, this reserved area must be displayed on a 
site plan.  

 
e. The reserved parking area must be of adequate size to accommodate the anticipated 

additional traffic of the special event.  The size of the reserved parking area shall be 
reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission. 

 
f. For special events lasting more than one day and with an expected daily attendance 

exceeding 100 hundred individuals, the on-site manager or owner shall notify all adjacent 
neighbors bordering the subject property in writing of the date, time, duration and 
description of the event. Notification shall occur at least five business days prior to the 
beginning of the event. 
 

5. Education-oriented activities. Events and/or activities which bring the public to the property for 
the sole purpose of participation, learning, or involvement in the agricultural operation are 
exempt from the Agritourism Special Event standards if they meet the following criteria: 
 
a. Are limited to a one-day event no more than five times throughout a 12-month period. 

 
b. Have not more than 50 participants on the property at any one time during the one-day 

event. 
 

6. Prohibited Uses. 
 

a. Motorized off-road vehicle racing or other similar motor vehicle activities. 
 

b. Other uses that the Planning Commission determines would disturb the general peace and 
enjoyment of the rural and/or residential character of the surrounding area due to excessive 
traffic, noise, smoke, odors, or visual clutter.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10 
 

SECTION IX. AMENDMENT OF ZONING ORDINANCE COMPILED ARTICLE 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SPECIAL USES, BY ADDITION OF NEW SECTION 49.20.  Article 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR 

SPECIAL USES, Section 49.20 is hereby amended to add the following paragraphs to read 

as follows and to renumber the subsequent paragraphs: 

 
ARTICLE 49: REQUIREMENTS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
49.20 AGRITOURISM, CATEGORY 3 
 

1. Intent. The intent of the Category 3 Agritourism option is to allow opportunities for limited 
nonresidential events or activities that make use of existing rural character and agricultural 
buildings.  

 
2. Application Narrative. A written narrative describing the events or activities, including 

proposed hours of operation; expected attendance; measures that are to be taken to assure 
that the operation of the use will take place only in a safe and convenient manner; and 
other information describing the events or activities which will assist the Planning 
Commission in determining whether the application meets the Special Use requirements. 

3. Events or Activities. 
 

a. The following table outlines the type and number of events or activities allowed 
throughout a typical calendar year, beginning on January 1st. 

 

Event Type Event Size 
(persons) 

Number of 
Consecutive 

Days  

Days between 
any Event* 

Total Number of 
Events per Year 

Educational classes, 
lectures, seminars, and 
day camps 

1-20 5 2 15 
21-50 3 4 10 

Over 50 
(max 100) 2 10 5 

Retail events N/A 2 30 3 

Weddings and 
celebratory gatherings 

1-50 1 7 20 
51-150 1 20 15 

151-300 (max) 1 27 10 

Holiday events/festivals N/A 2 60 3 

*Must follow the maximum number of days between events. 
 
b. For events with an expected attendance exceeding 100 hundred individuals, the on-site 

manager or owner shall notify all adjacent neighbors bordering the subject property in 
writing of the date, time, duration and description of the event. Notification shall occur 
at least five business days prior to the beginning of the event. 

 
c. Hours of operation. Hours of operation for the event or activities must be provided by 

the applicant. The Planning Commission may alter the requested hours of operation for 
the agritourism uses, or specific elements thereof, consistent with the character of the 
land uses in the vicinity and may further approve an enforcement mechanism to ensure 
adherence to the established hours of operation.  

4. General Standards: 
 

a. Parcel size. Parcels must be a minimum of 10 acres.  The Planning Commission may 
consider a smaller parcel size depending on the agritourism uses planned.  Their 
consideration of a smaller parcel size will be based on the intensity and scale of the 
proposed agritourism use, compatibility with surrounding property owners, and will be 
harmonious with the existing character of the area. 



11 
 

 
b. Architectural character. All buildings shall incorporate a rural theme in terms of style 

and design.  This means new agritourism uses involving new structures shall 
complement and enhance the rural environment.  For example, gable or gambrel roofs, 
roof ornamentation such as cupolas, dormers, porches, and decorative shutters. 

 
c. Road Access. Access to an agritourism use must be from the County primary road or 

State highway, unless approved by the Planning Commission.  
 
d. Parking. On-site vehicle parking shall be provided on the agritourism property as 

follows: 
 
i. The total number of required spaces shall be calculated as one space for every 1,000 

square feet of the main public activity area, plus one space for every two 
employees. The main public activity areas shall be defined as the primary buildings 
and outdoor spaces where the public congregates for the agritourism use. This shall 
not include areas dedicated to agricultural production.  

 
ii. 24-foot two-way or 20-foot one-way circulation aisles shall be maintained.  To 

ensure drive aisles are maintained, the location of parking spaces shall be defined by 
providing some type of marker at the center of the space to be placed every 64 feet 
for two-way traffic and 60 feet for one-way traffic. 

 
iii. Parking lots shall be clearly demarcated through some physical means like timbers, 

fences, stakes, etc. 
 
iv. The on-site parking shall be arranged so no vehicle movements occur in the public 

right-of-way and to avoid the accumulation of parked cars on the public roads.  
 
v. Parking and driveway surfaces may be pervious or hard surface. 
 
vi. Accessible spaces must be provided in accordance with the requirements of 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, utilizing the most current design standards. 
 
vii. The Planning Commission may reduce or defer the number required parking spaces 

if the applicant provides a parking study that demonstrates, to the satisfaction of 
the Planning Commission, that a reduced number of parking spaces will meet the 
parking needs of the agritourism uses.  If parking is deferred, the location of those 
deferred spaces must be shown as such on the required site plan.  

 
e. Lighting. Any exterior lighting installed related to an agritourism event or activity shall 

be appropriately shielded and directed downwards to minimize light pollution.  All 
lighting shall meet the standards of Section 78.720: Outdoor Lighting Standards. 

 
f. Trash receptacles. Trash receptacles shall be provided. If dumpsters are provided, they 

shall be placed on a hard surface and shall be completely obscured from view by a 
screen fence or wall. 

 
g. Screening. Opaque screening, consisting of an earth berm, evergreen screen, or an 

obscuring wall or fence, shall be provided near the primary public activity areas on those 
sides abutting or adjacent to a residential use. The use of natural landscape materials is 
encouraged. The Planning Commission may waive the screening requirement in specific 
cases where cause can be shown that the distance between the agritourism and 
residential use would not require screening. 

 
h. Restroom facilities. Public restroom facilities, temporary or permanent, shall be 

provided on site in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, utilizing 
the most current accessibility standards.   

 
i. Maximum capacity. The Fire Marshall or Building Official shall establish a maximum 

capacity for special activities or events which shall be appropriate to the site and 
facilities in terms of safe capacity in buildings, parking area and sanitation limitations of 
the site.  



12 
 

 
5. Prohibited Uses. 

 
a. Motorized off-road vehicle racing or other similar motor vehicle activities. 
 
b. Other uses that the Planning Commission determines would disturb the general peace 

and enjoyment of the rural and/or residential character of the surrounding area due to 
excessive traffic, noise, smoke, odors, or visual clutter.  

 
 
SECTION X. EFFECTIVE DATE AND REPEAL.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances inconsistent with 

this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take effect upon publication 

after adoption in accordance with State law. 

 

       DUSTY FARMER, CLERK 
       OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 



0ob
\'j'/r,,\S/ (,xe.@ .rxrrarry,

2 o*ttenco
ZTnp\- c'sLr!3e

Memorandum
May 10, 2019
Township Board
Dusty Farmer, Clerk
Cemetery Ordinance Amendments and Cemetery Pricing

Date:
To:
From:
Subject:

Objective:
To update the Cemetery Ordinance to reflect the changes in the approved Cemetery Master
Plan, to update the Township pricing struc'ture for burial rights purchase and
intermenvdisinterment, and to establish a Cemetery Maintenance Fund.

Background:
ln February 2019, the Board adopted the Cemeteries Master Plan that outlines the vision of how
the three cemeteries in Oshtemo will develop in the future. The plan includes burial options that
meet the needs of the community, strategies to reduce maintenance costs, raising fees so that
cemeteries can be sustained without additional general fund dollars, and creating spaces that
are visually appealing to community members who visit memorials or stop at a cemetery as part
of a non-motorized trail.

To begin implementation of the Cemeteries Master Plan, ordinance changes are necessary.
These initial changes were shared with the Board eadier thrs year, along with a spreadsheet of
local and statewide pricing structures.

. Burial Rights replace lots or spaces- this clarifies that property is not being purchased,
but rather the right to bury.

. Definitions have been added to add consistency to word usage (Monument is general
structure, memorial is a headstone), and to introduce new services for residents and
non-residents (green burial, columbarium, cenotaph).

o Expansion of burial rights purchase for green burial to non-residents.
o Forfeiture of burial rights
. Memorial design standards
o Green burial
. Restrictions to decorations

Attachments:
Mark-up Cemetery Ordinance Amendments
Clean Cemetery Ordinance Amendments
Burial Rights Form
Burial Rights Transfer Form

Highlights of Changes:

7275 W. Main Slreet
Kalamazoo, Ml 49009

Q69)2t6-sn0
Fax (269) 375-7180
\\'$'u.oshlemo org



PART 233

233.OOO - CEMETERY REGULATIONS

Ord. No. 203 Adopted: November 1, 1983

Contents:
. 233.001 - Authority.

. 233.002 - Definitions@

. 233.003 - Sale ofJets-e+ burial spaeeq!gh'!9.

o 233.0(X - Purchase price and transfer fees,

o 233.005 - Repurchase of lets€Fburial spaeesightt.

o 233.006 - Forfeiture of burial riehts

. 233,0025 - Grave opening charges.

. 233,0087 - Memorials and Monuments Me+*€+s€+ meme+iels,

o 233.0098 - lnterment regulations,

. 233.0100S - C+eufld-s t\4aintenance.

. 233,0Ue - Records.

. 233.014 - Vault.

. 233.013 - Expansion of existing and establishment of new cemeteries

233.01!12 - Cemetery hours.

233.0153 - Penalties.

233.0104 - Repeal and effective date.

233.001 - Authority.

Sec, 1.

The following cemetery regulations are adopted by ordinance pursuant to authority granted the Township
by 1915 PA 313, as amended, 1931 PA 46, as amended, 1909 PA 95, as amended, and 1937 PA 215, as

amended.

a) Burial Risht is the risht to be buried in a burial space in the cemetery either throush purchased

ownershio or sranted written oermission from the burial rights owner

0q,

233.002-Definitions@
Sec,2. The following words and phrases used in this ordinance are defined as follows:



b) Burial Space is the area for which burial rishts have been purchased. Size is determined bv the
tvoe of burial

c) Cenotaph is a monument for someone who is buried elsewhere in the cemetery.
d) Columbarium is a structure for funeral urns to be stored
e) Cremains are the remains of a person after cremation

fffawn burial is an in-ground grave with a casket and vault
g) Green burial is an in-sround grave that allows naturaldecomposition
h) Memorial is a headstone made of durable material used to identify the occupant interred in a

burialsoace
i) Monument is a larqe memorial used to indicate several burials
i) Qualified person is a person who either lives in or owns propertv in the Township
a)klVault is a vessel made of cqlleleleused lle eel[ain a casket or cremains container

233.003 - Sale of le+s-e+burial spaee{gbE,

Sec. 3.

Vault?
Yes or No

Township
Residencv
Required?

YesLawn buria l, single plot,

Lawn burial, side bv side
p lots

Yes

Green burlal (Prairie

Reconstruction Area),
sinsle €letburial soace.

biodesradable casket or
shroud.

No

NoFull body

Cenotaoh monument obelis
enRraved with names gnd

birth/death dates that are

srouped tosether.

k.
Green burial (Prairle

Reconstruction Area, side bv
side ple+sburial space,

d le casket
shroud-

No

Lawn burial, single

Bletburial spa

crematns +ruFns
ce, up to three No YesCremains

No

Green burial (Prairie

Reconstruction area
single cremains pl,e+burial

sDace,

biodeeradable urn or no urn

).

Cremains

Tvoe of
interment

Tvoe of lMonument Tvpe of Bu rial

Full bodv
Above ground memorial for

one person
Yes

Full bodv
Above ground memorial-for

two people Yes

Full bodv
Cenotaph monument obelisk,

ensraved with name and

birth/death date

No

Above pround memorial -for
one to three oerson

Cremains
Name and birth/death date
on plaoue on columbarium

Columbarium niche in court
or wall. cremains in urn

No No

cenotaph monument obelisk
engraved with name and

birth/death date

No



Cenotaph monument obelisk,
both names and birth/death

dates are grouped
No

Lawn burial crematns
section

Yes

Aj_@€€metery lo+s-€+ bu{,i+l-spe€e+ burial riehts shall be sold according to the chllt !n

233.02. Lawn burial rights shall be sold to qualified persons onlv.@
+^ ^^1., .^.i.1^^+. ^. +--^-,,^..w

,+.E__

No sale shall be made to funeral
directorsM.Greenburialrightsshallbesoldtothegeneral
public.

The Township Clerk @is hereby granted the authority to
vary the-a nv afe+esaid-restriction on sales where the purchaser discloses sufficient personal

reason for burial within the Township through previous residence in the Township, relationship
to persons interred therein, or other adequate reason disclosing such personal interest.

gC. All such sales shall be made on a form approved by the Township Board which Brants a
right of burial only and does not convey any othertitle to the l€+-eFburial spaeerieht sold. Such

form shall be executed by the €MTownship Clerk.

C.Q.,__Burial rights with the exce tion of reen buria ls may only be transferred to a qualified
person with g form issued by the
Township @ After approval and processine, Clerk,

reee++,-sai+gbrf-shall issue a new burial p€+miqighlg_lg4Lto the assignee and shall cancel
and terminate sp€n5ir€h-+e€€+ds-Jhe original form. p€+mit+h{#-€ssi6n€+

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2ffi7t.

233.004 - Purchase price and transfer fees.

Sec. 4.

A. Purchase price ofburial rishtsspa€€s shall be at a cost determined frem time te time by the
Township Board and will be available in the Clerk's office.

B. Transfer of eneern+ere-burial rightssp€€€s from an original purchaser to aqualified-pe+sen-as
ersisn€€elglng shall be at a cost determined M++e+o{im€-by the Township Board.

CTheforegoingchargesshallbepaidtotheTownship.@
€em€+€ry+un+

Cremains

Green burial, (Prairie

Reconstruction area),

comoanion cremains plot.

biodegradable urn or no urn

No

Cremains Flush memorial No



C. (Amended: Ord. No.480, 8-28-2c071

233.005 - Repurchase_of Je+s-erburial spaees{gh gg.

Sec. 5.

The Township will repurchase any eem€+€ry-l€+-er burial rishtspaee from the owner for the original price

paid to the Township upon the written request of said owner or h is or herh+s legal heirs or representatives.

233.005 - Forfeiture of burial rights

Sec.6

Effective for all burial rights acquired on or after Jul 1, 2019, unused burial rishts to a olot are effective
for fortv vears from the date of acquisition bv purchase or transfer. The owner may renew said burial
rights without further charge [l Droviding written notice to the Townshio of their wishes to retain the
burial rights to said vacant plot. lf the owner does not initiate contact to renew said rishts, the Township
shall notifu the owner bv certified mail, using the last address of record, that the burlal rights shall expire
in 60 days if no written notice is receive4

233.0076 - Grave opening charges.

Sec. 76.

A. The opening and closing of any burial space, for either interment or disinterment p+i€r+ei+d
fellewing a burlal therein, and ineluding the interment ef ashes, shall be at a cost to be

determined fre++.i+ne+e+ime-by the Township Board, payable to the Township of Oshtemo.

B. No burial spaces shall be opened and closed except under the direction and control of the
Township Clerk.

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2007)

233.0087 - Ma+*e++Memoria ls

Sec. 87.

A. All memorials must be of stone or other equally durable composition.

B. All memorials must be located upon a suitable solid foundation The Foundation shall be

constructed bv the Townshi o. All foundation costs must be oaid in full o rior to installation. te
@

C. Only one+ m€.nurr€€+ memorial shall be permitted per burial spacelEE except for flush

military memorials or flush memorials at the foot of the grave site to identify buried cremains.

D. Within the cremation section, a memorial not to exceed 24 inches in length and 12 inches in

width shall be permitted on each cremation space. lf one memorial is placed to identify two
adjacent cremation spaces, the size of the memorial may be increased but not to exceed 36

inches in length and 14 inches in width. All markers shall be four inches or less in thickness and

shall be placed flush with the ground.



E. All sreen burial cenota ohs will be installed and enRraved bv the Township. with names erouoed bv

location

F. Markers shall be pro rtional to the size of the burial rieht-sDace uoon which thev are located and

shall never extend bevond the buria s oa for which thev are olaced

G. Marker width shall be determined bv number of burialspaces side-bv-side for which burial rishts have

been pu rcha sed.bu+ial+ish+s-€*n€4

{1) S inele burial ri€htsoace ma+*e+memorial maximum width shall be fortv-two (42) inches

2 Two to three 2-3
(60) inches

burial ma+ke+-menu+c€fl+memorial maximum width shall

3 Four to five 4-5 un ace ma+kermemorial maximum width shall be ei ur 84

inches

(4) No mark€rmemorial shall exceed eishtv-four (84) inches in width.

(H) Ma+k€+Memorial heisht shall not exceed fortv-eisht (48) inches

(t) Ma+ke+Memorial thickness shall not exceed sixteen (16) inches

(J) Ma+ke+Memorial shall be centered on individual eravesburial soace or centered on the combined

soace, and Iocated one (1) foot into the p+o+burial soace at the common el€+burial soace line

E_
(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2OO7l

233.(x)98 - lnterment regulations.

Sec. 99.

buried at the same time,

&A. Not less than 36 hours' notice shall be given in advance ofthe time of any funeral to allow
for the opening of the burial space, and the Township will use its best efforts to accommodate
spiritual or religious preferences of the family.

€-. B._The appropriate permit for the burial space involved, together with appropriate
identification ofthe person to be buried therein, where necessary shall be presented to the
Townshi Clerk ef+heie*nsh+p-Bea+4prior to interment. Where such permit has been lost or
destroyed, the Township Clerk shall be satisfied, from his or her records, that the person to be
buried in the burial space is an authorized and appropriate oneperson.

D.e-All Sr€+€s-lqqllplCfshall be leea+ed-lggt in an orderly and neat appearing manner:
within the eenfines ef the burial spaee invelved,

D. One casket and one cremain mav be buried in one lawn burial space-. 3-€remati€{+in+€+rm€{i+s

@
E-. Three (3) cremains may be placed in one lawn or green burial space

E. All materials for a qreen burial must be natural and biodegradable, with the exception of non-
biodegradable medical implants not required

F. (Amended: Ord. No.480, 8-28-2OO7l

bv law to be removed prior to burial.
Conventionallv embalmed bodies are prohibited



83,0f 0e9 - €+eund-m_ldaintenance.

Sec. 109.

A. No grading, leveling or excavating upon a burial space shall be allowed. witfieu++he-pe+missiel+
eftle{€lvnship€l€+l<=

B. No @plantines shall be allowed. eC w+theu++he-epp+ev

th€-+€+ynship--€+e+*-Flowers must be placed within one foot of the front of the
m++ke+memorialfor lawn burials. Upen a erematien spaee enly, ne plants er evergreens shall
be-pe+mit+ed-One underground container for cut flowers will be permitted per cremation
burial space. Glass containers are not permitted on anv bu!'ial space.

C. The Township reserves the right to remove or trim any tree, plant or shrub located within the
cemetery in the interest of maintaining proper appearance and the use ofthe cemetery.

D. Meu+ds-v',hiehD e co rat io n s or flowers which hinder the free use of a lawn mower or other
gardening apparatus are prohibited and will be removed.

D,E. Other than the me+*e+memorial and seasonal decorations no structures shall be
permitted.

E[.The Township shall have the right and authority to remove any and all flowers, emblems, or
displays that are or become unsightly. Spring/summer decorations must be removed bv

October 15 or they will be removed bv the Township. Winter decorations are allowed after
November 1 and must be removed bv April 1 or the will be removed b the Townshi 0

Pursuant to State of Michigan law, the Township places flags on Veteran burial spaces prior to
November 11

+-. G-curfaees ether tha Burial space shall be either lawn or prairie,

per the Cemetery Master Pla n, unless constructed bv the Township. Other surfaces prohibited

G. For sreen burial sections, after short prairie savannah reconstruction the la ndscaoe will be

minimallv maintained. A rough, unpaved walkwav throueh sections will be minimallv
maintained for use bv burial equipment, passenger vehicles, and pedestrians

€- .All ref+*s€ ef any I

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2OO7l

233.011le - Records.

Sec. U0.

The Township Clerk shall maintain records concerning all burials and issuance of burial p€fF+i+slgblt

separate and apart from any other records of the Township and the same shall be open to public

inspection at all reasonable business hours.

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2007)

233.012+ - Vault.

Sec. 121.



A. A. Lawn A+burials shall be within a standard concrete vault installed or constructed in each burlal
space before interment.
d€€+ade:

B. & Green burials shall not have a vault and shall be interred according to the lnterment regulation
section of this ordinance

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-20071

{a) When it considers it desirable and necessary, by Resolution the Board mav provide for enlargement
of an existin cemete or establishment of one or more n1 w cemeteries

233.014e - Cemetery hours.

Sec. 143.

A. The cemetery shall be open to the general public from sunrise to sunset of each day.

B. No person shall be permitted in the Township cemeteries at any time other than the foregoing
hours, except upon permission of the Township Clerk.

(Amended: Ord. No. 480, 8-28-2m7)

233.0U3 - Penalties.

Sec. 153.

Violation of any of the provisions of this Ordinance or failure to comply with any of its requirements shall
constitute a municipal civil infraction.

Upon determination of responsibility, the person, corporation, firm or other entity shall pay a fine
according to the following schedule:

. Firstoffense.....575.00

. Second offense within three years offirst offense .....150.00

. Third offense within three-year period .....325.00

. Fourth and each subsequent offense within three-year period are each .....500.00

lf a determination of responsibility is made by the Court, the Court may impose costs as provided for by
law in addition to the fines called for above.

233.013 - Expandins existing and establishing new township cemeteries.

Sec. 13.

{b) A Board Resolution to enlaree or establish a cemeterv shall be subiect to:

(1) Providins the Counry health deoartment with a land description and two (2) cooies of a olat
for the division of the enlarged or new cemeterv; and.

(2) Countv health deDartment aDDroval of a plat for the enlarged or new cemeterv.



Each day during which a violation continues shall be deemed a separate offense. The imposition of a fine

shall not exempt an offender from compliance with the provisions of this Ordinance.

Nothing herein contained shall prevent the Township Board, public official or private citizen from taking

such lawful action as is necessary to restrain or prevent any violation ofthis Ordinance.

(Amended: Ord. No. 309, 9-5-1994)

233.010 - Repeal and effective date.

Sec. 15.

These Regulations shall take effect 30 days after publication. All regulations or parts of re8ulations in

conflict herewith are hereby repealed.



Adopted:

Effective:

2019

2019

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE

An Ordinanceto amend Oshtemo Charter Toyenship Ordinance No.203, as amended, entitl€d

the Oshtemo Cha rter Township Cemetery Regulations,' specifically Compiled S€ctions 233.m2 through

233.016, and to repeal all Ord inances or parts ofOrdinances in conffid.

THE CHARTERTOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO

KALAMAZOO COUNTY, MICHIGAN

OROAINS:

SECTION I. AMEiIDMENTTO COMPII.TO SECTION 83.M2 DEFINITIOI{S OF CEMMRY LOTS

AND BURiAL SPACES A D RETfn-€D. Compiled SGGtbn 233.m2 is herebv

amended and retitled to read as follows:

23,(m - Dcfrnldons.

Sac. 2. Ih. rofloull{ !.roflb and phre.6 ulrd ln tib ordin tE ar! dctrrEd as folloE:

(a) Burial Right ir the dght to be buried in a burial space in the cemetery either
through purchased owne.shlp or tranted written pefirission f.om the burial
rights owner.

{b) Burlal Space is the area for which hlrial rights have b€en purchased. Size is
determined by the type of burial.

(c) Cenotaph isa monumentfo, someone who is buried elsewhe.e in the cemetery.

(d) Columbarlum is a structure for funerdlumsto be stored.

(e) Cremains are the remains ofa person afteacaemation.

(f) Lawn burial is an in€.ound grave with a casket and vault.

k) Green burial is an in€.ound grave that allows natural d€composition.

I

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP ORDINANCE NO.



(h)

(i)

(,)

(r)

Memorial is a headslone made of durable material u5€d ro id€ntify the
occupant inter.ed in. bu.ial space.

Monument is a larBe memorial used to indicate severalburialS.

Qualified person is ! pe.son who eithe, lives in or owns property in the
Townihip.

Vauh ii a vessel made of concrete used to contain a @sket or cremains
container.

sEcTroN [. AMENDM€NTTO COMPILEO SECTION 233.M3 SAI.E OF LOTS OR EURIAT SPACES

ANO RETTTLED. Compiled Section 233.m3 is hereby amended and .etitled to

read as follows:

233.(x8 - S.le ot burl.l ilshtr.

Sec. 3.

Type of
interment

Type of Monument Type of Burial
Vault?

Yes or ilo

Township
Reridencl
Required?

Full body
Above ground memorial for

one pe6on Lawn burial, single plot, Y€s Yes

Fullbody
Above ground memorial for

two people
Lawn bu,ial, side by side

plots
Yes Yes

Full body
Cenotaph monument obelisk,

engraved with name and
bi.th/death date

Green burial (Prdi.ie

Reconstruction Area),
sangle bu.ialspace,

biodeSradable caslet or
shroud.

No

Full body

Cenotaph monunrent ob€lisk,
entraved with names and
birth/death dates that are

grouped togethe..

Green burial (Prairie

Reconstruction Area, side by
side burialspace,

blodeSradable casket or
sh.oud.

No NO

Cremains
Above ground memorial for

one to three person
Lawn bu.ial, single burial

space, Up to three cremains
No

Cremains
Cenotaph monument obelisk

engraved with name and
birth/death date

Green burial (Prairie

Reconstruction area),
single cremains burial space,
biodetradable urn or no um

No No

Cremains
Cenotaph monu,nent obelisl,
both names and birth/dead!

dates aae gaouped

Green burial, (Pl-airie

Reconstruction aaea),

companion cremains plot,
biodegradable um or no um

No No

Cremains Flush merhorial
lawn burial, cremains

section
Ye5

2

Cremains
Name and binvdeath date
on plaque on columbarium

Columbarium niche in court
orwall, cremains ir um

No No



Cem€tery burial rights shall be sold accordinS to the chart in 233.02. Lawn burial
rights shall be sold to qualified persons only. No sale shall be made to fiJneral
directors. G.een burial rights may be sold to the Seneral public.

The Township Cle* is hereby granted the authority to vary any restrictlon on
sales where the purchaser discloses sulficient personal reason for burial within
the Township through previous residence in the Township, relationship to
pe.sons inte.red therein, or other adequate reason disclosing such personal
interest.

All such sales shall be made on a form approved by the Township Board which
grants a riSht of burial only and does not convey any other title to the burial riSht
sold. Such form shall be executed by the Township Clerk.

Burial riShts, with the exception of gre€n burials, may only be transferred to a
qualiffed person with a form issued by the Township. After approval and
processin& the Clerk, shall issue a new burial rights form to the assignee and
shall cancel and terminate the originalform.

SECTION III. AMENDMEI{TTO COMPII.fD SECNON 233.d)4 PURCHASE PRICE AND TRAI{SFER

EEES. Compiled Section 233.004 is hereby amended to .ead a5 follows;

2:I,.O(,4 - Pu.rhas! price alrd transtlr i.cs.

Scc.4.

A. Purchase price ofburial rights shall be at a cost determined by the Township
Board and will be available in the Clerk's office.

B. Tranrfur of burial rights from an original purchaser to another shall be at a cost
determined by the Township Board.

C. The foregoing charges shall be paid to the Township.

SECNO U. AMENOMEMT TO COMPI|.IO SECTON 83.M5 REPURCHASS Of TOTS OR

EURIALSPACESAND RETmED. Compiled s€ction 233.m5 is hereby amended

and .etitled to read as follows:

23:l.dr5 - RlpsnhGc ot bsrhl rlahb.

Scc. 5.

The Township will repurchase any burlal ritht from the owner for the original price paid to the
Township upoh the written request ofsaid owner or his or her letalheirs or repaesentatives.

I

c.

D.

3



SECTION V ADDITION OF COMPILED SECTION 233.006 FORFEITURE OF BURIAI. RIGHTS.

Compiled Sedion 23.m6 is hereby added to read as follows:

233.qr6 - Forfeitu.r of burtal rights.

Sec. 5.

Effective for all burial rights acquired on o. after.luly 1,2019, unused burial rights to a plot are efiective
for forty years from the date of acquisition by purchase or tr.nsfur. The owne. may renew laid burial
rights without firrther charBe by providint written notice to the Township of their wishe5 to retain the
burial ri8hts to said vacant plot. lfthe owner does not initiate contact to renew said rights, the Township
shall notiry the owner by cenified mail, using the lart address of record, that the burial rithts shallerpi.e
in 60 days if no written notice is received.

SECTION VI AMENDMENT COMPILED SECTION M6 GRAVE OPENING CHARGES AND

REIIUMB€RED. Compil€d Sectbn 233.q)6 i. hereby amended and rEnumbe.Ed

ar Complled Section 233.07 to read as follows:

2:'3.dr,-Gr c oncnlna d.rtc..

Scc. r.

The openinS and closing of any burial spacg for either interment or
disinterment, 5hall be at a cost to be determin€d by the Township Board,
payable to the Township ofOshtemo.

SECTION VII. AMENDMENT COMPILED SECIION 233.@7 MAR(ERsOR MEMORIAI.S.

RETITTID AND RENUMBEREo. Compiled Section 233.m7 is hereby aftended,

retitled .nd renumbered as Compiled Section 233.008 to read as follows:

233.q8 - lrcmorl.li.

S€c. &

A. All memodals must be ofstone or other equally durable composition.

B. All memorials must be located upon a suitable solid foundation. The Foundation
shall be construded by the Township. All foundation costs must be paid in full
prior to installation.

C. Only one memorialshall be permitted per burial space, except for flush milhary
memorials or flush memorials at the foot of the g.ave site to identit buried
cremainS.

Within the cremation section, a memorial not to exceed 24 inches in l€ngth and
12 inches in width shall be permitted on each cremation space. lf one memoriat
is placed to identify two adiacent cremation spaces, the size of the memorial
may be inffeased but not to exc€ed 36 inches in length and 14 inches in width.
All markers shall be four inches or less in thickness and shall be placed flush with
the ground.

4

B No burial spaces shall be opened and closed except under the direction and
controlof the Township Clerk.

D.



E,

Ma.ke6 shall be proportional to the size of the burial space upon which they are

located and shall never extend beyond the burialspace forwhich theyare placed.

Marker width shall be determined by number of burial spaces side-by-side for which

burialrights have been purchased.

(1) Single burial space memorial maximum width shall be forty-two (42) inches.

(2) Two to three (2-3) burial space memorial maximum width shall be sixty (60)

inches.

(3) Four to five (4-5) burial space memorial marimum width shall be eiShty-four
(84) inches.

(4) No memorial shall exceed eighty-four (84) inches in width.

Memorialheight shall not exceed fortyright (48) inches.

Memodal thickness shallnot exceed sixteen (16)inches.

Memorial shall be centered on individual burial space o. centered on the combined
space and located one (1)foot into the burialspace atthe comfton burialspace line.

AM E N DM ENT COM PILE D SECTIO N 2339)3 1!!1E8!4!XI3!G!14IIO

F

G

sEcTtoN v t

RENUMBERED. Compiled Sedion 233.0o8 is hereby amended and renumbered

233.(x)!, - lnterm€nt regulations

Sec. 9.

Not less than 35 hours' notice shall be given in advance of the time of any
funeralto allow for the opening ofthe burial space, and the Township will use its
best efforts to accommodate spiritualor religious preferences ofthe family.

The appropriate permit for the burial space involved, together with appropriate
identification of the person to be buried therein, where necessary, shall be
presented to the Township Cle.k prior to interment. where such permit has

been lost or destroyed, the Township clerk shall be satisfied, from his or her
records, that the person to be buried in the burial space is an authorized and

appropriate person.

All burial spaces shall be kept in an orderly and neat appearing manner

Three (3) cremains may be placed in one lawn or green burial space. All materials
for a green burial must be natural and biodegradable, with the exception of non-
biodegradable medical implants not required by law to be removed prior to
burial. conventionally embalmed bodies are prohibited,

c

D

E.

All green burial cenotaphs will be installed and engraved by the Township, with names

Brouped by location.

as Compiled Section 233.009 to read asfollows:

One casket and one cremain may be buried in one lawn burial space.

H.

t.

J.

B,

5



sEcTroN rx.

I

SECTION X

c

AMENOMENT COMPILED SECTION 233.009 GROUND MAI]TTENANCE. RET|NED

AND RENUMBERED. compiled Section 233.009 is hereby amended, retitled and

renumbe.ed as Compiled Section 233.010 to read as follows:

233.010 - Maintehance.

S€c. 10.

A. No gradin& leveling or excavating upon a burial space shall be allowed

No plantings shall be allowed. Flowers must be placed within one foot of the
front of the memorial for lawn burials. One underground contain€r for cut
flowers will be permitted per cremation burial space. Glass containers are not
permitt€d on any burial space.

The Township reserves the right to remove or trim any tree, plant or shrub
located within the cemetery in the interest of maintaining proper appearance
and the use ofthe cemetery.

Decorations or flowers which hinder the free use of a lawn mower or other
gardening apparatus are prohibited and will be removed.

Other than the memorial and seasonal decorationt no structures shall be
permitted.

The Township shall have the right and authority to remove any and all flowers,
emblems, or displays that are or become unsightly. Spring/summer decorations
must be removed by Octobe. 15 or they will be removed by the Township.
Winter decorations are allowed after November 1 and must be removed by April
1or they will be removed by the Township. Pursuant to State of Michi8an law,
the Township places flags on Vet€ran burial spaces prior to November 11.

Burial space shall be either lawn or prairie, per the Cemetery Master Plan, unless
condructed by the Township. Other surfaces prohibited.

For green burial sections, after short prairie/savannah r€construction, the
landscape will be minimally maintained. A rough, unpaved walkway through
sections will be minimally maintained for use by burial equipment, passenge.
vehicles, and pedestrians.

0

E.

F

G

H

AMEI{DMEI{T COMPILED SECNON 233.010 RECORDS AND RENUMEEREO.

compiled S€ction 233.010 is hereby amended and renumbered as Compiled

Section 233.011io read as follows:

233.0U - Records.

S€c. 11.

The Township Clerk shall maintain rccords conceming all burials and issuance of burial rith6 s€pa.ate
and apart f.om any other.ecords ofthe Township and the same shall be open to public insp€ction at all
aeasonable bBiness hours.

6



SESNON XI. AME'{OMENT COMPIIED sECNO 233.OllVAULTAND RENUMBEREO.

Compiled Section 233.011is hereby amendEd and ienumbercd as Crmpihd

s€ction 233,012 to read as follo*s:

2:]t.ou-v lL

ScC. xL

A. Lawn burials shall be within a standard concrete vauh installed o. constnrted in
each burial space b€fore inteameot.

B. Green burials shall not have a vault and shall be intened accordinS to the Intement
.etuhtion section of this ordinanc€.

SECNON XII. ADDMON OF COMPILEO SECI1OX 233.013 EXPANOING EXENNG AND

ESTABLISHI G iIEWTOWNSHIP CEMmRIES. Compiled Section 233.013 is

heteby added to read as follows:

23.013 - ExpaDding Edsdnt.rd Est blbhi q cw Tourshlp Cqltct .hs

Scc. t3.

When it consideE it desirdble and necessary, by Resolution the Board may provide to,
enlaGement ofan existint cemetery or establishment ofone (1)or more new
cemeteries.

8. A Board Resolution to enlarge orestablish a cemete.y shall be subject to:

1.

2.

Providing the Kalamazoo County Health and Community s€,vices Ctepartment
with a land der€ription and two (2)copies of a plat forthe division ofthe
enlarted or new cemetery; and,

Kalamazoo County Health and Community Services Department approvalofa
platforthe enlaBed or new cemetery.

RENUMBERING OF COMPILID SECTIONS 233.012 CEMEIERY HOURS A D

233.013 PENAITIES. Compiled Section 233.012 ls renumbered as Compiled

Section 233.014, and Compiled Section 233.013 is renumbered as Compil€d

Section 233.015.

sEcTtoN xIt

sEcTroN xrv. AMENDMENT TO COMPILED SECTION 233.014 REPEAT AND EFFECTIVE DATE

A!D_BEN-!I 4SEEED. Compiled Section 233.014 is hereby amended and

renumbered as Compiled Sedion 233.016 to read as follows:

7



All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. This ordinance shall

take effect upon publication.

OUSTY FARMER, CLER(

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWI{SHIP

8

2!4,016 Rep€al and e{tediw date.

S€c' 16.



eern lrtt,&oteufliuto
Osxreuo Cxenren Towrsxtp

KALAMAzoo CouNTY, MTCHTGAN

Permit No.

t..,:... .".... In consideration ofthe sum

receipt ofwhich is hereby acknowledged, the Township Board of Oshtemo Charter Township,

Kalamazoo Cormty, Michigan, hereby issues and Srants to

his, her, or their heirs, representatives and assigns, the right ofthe interment and burial in and to

burial space(s) - in Lot Section . in the

Genessee Prairie Cemetery of the Charter Township ofOshtemo, in Kalamazoo

County, Michigan, according to the Plat thereof on file with the Clert ofthe Board of said

Township; subjec! however, to all nrles and regulations now existing or which might thercafter be

adopted by the Township Board, or its successor or assigns, conceming the same-

This Burial Pemrit and the rights herein granted shall only be transferred by completion and

endorsement ofan Assignment and the acceptance and approval ofthe same for recording by the

Clerk ofthe Township Board.

ltl wrnnss wnennor, The Township Board has caused this instrument to be executed by the

Clerk of said Board this _ day of .20-.

Oshtemo Chaner Township Board

By

Amanda McMillon, Deputy
Its Clert

Address

Phone Number

Email ad&ess



eendrrt* !,ot g'wu kn eedXlirnlp

Osxremo Cxlnren Towxsxtp
KALAMAzoo Courrv, MTCHTGAN

New Permit No.

-tlia@In consideration ofthe sum of $5.00pergrave,

receip ofwhich is hereby acknowledged, the Township Board of Oshtemo Charter Township,

Kalamazoo County, Michigan, hereby transfers to his, her, or their

heirs, representatives and assigns, the right ofthe interment and burial in and to burial

space(s) in Lot . Section in the

Hill Cemetery ofthe Charter Township of Oshtemo, in Kalamazoo

County, Michigan, according to the Plat thereof on file wilh the Clerk ofthe Board of said

Township; subjec! however, to all rules and regulations now existing or which might thereafter be

adopted by the To$nship Board, or its succes-sor or assigns, conceming the same.

This Burial Pemrit and the rights herein granted shall only be transferred by completion and

endorsernent ofan Assignment and the acceptance and approval ofthe same for recording by the

Clerk ofthe Township Board.

IN wrrNEss wHEREo4 The Township Board has caused this instrument to be executed by

the Clerk ofsaid Board, this _ day of 20

Oshtemo Charter Township Board

Its Clerk

By
Previous Owner

Address

Phone Number

Email address

Previous Pemit No

By



0b ii

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF OSHTEMO
KALAMAZOO COI.JNTY, MICHIGAN

May28,2019

WHEREAS, the Township has authority to own, operate and maintain cemeteries within

the Township pursuant to Public Act I 13 of 1915, Public Act 46 of 1931, Public Act 95 of 1909

and Public Act 215 of 1937; and

WHEREAS, the Township currently operates three cemeteries in the Township, to-wit:

Genessee Prairie Cemetery, Hill Cernetery and West Oshtemo Cemetery; and

WHEREAS, the Township has exercised its authority to own, operate and maintain

cemeteries within the Township pursrxrnt to Ordinance No. 203 adopted November l, 1983; and

WHEREAS, the Township has and will continue to operate and maintain its cemeteries at

the highest level in order to serve the welfare of its residents; and

WHEREAS, the Board wishes to plan for the continuing operation and maintenance of its

cemeteries by establishing a perpetual care fund pursuant to Section I of Public Act 215 of 1937.

NOW THEREFORE, IT US fmREBY RESOLVED that Oshtemo Charter Township

shall establish the Oshtemo Charter Township Cemetery Perpetual Care and Maintenance Fund.

The Oshtemo Charter Township Cemetery Perpetual Care and Maintenance Fund shall be

established with an initial firnding of $_. The interest of the Cemetery Perpetual Care

and Maintenance Fund will be used solely for the care and maintenance of the Township's

cemeteries. Monies may be added to the Cemetery Perpetual Care and Maintenance Fund from

the General Fund as deemed advisable by the Township Board. In addition, the Cemetery

Resolution Establishine a Cemeterv Perpetual Care and Maintenance Fund
For Oshtemo Charter Township



Perpetual Care and Maintenance Fund may receive bequests, donations and gifts from the public

for the benefit of the Township cemeteries.

A motion was made by 

-, 

seconded bY

the above-referenced Resolution.

to adopt

Upon a roll call vote, the following voted "Aye":

The following voted "Nay":

The following "Abstained" :

The Supervisor declared that the Resolution has been adopted.

Dusty Farmer, Clerk
Oshtemo Charter TownshiP

* a* * * ****** * * * * * * **+* * +** * * t+ * a+{* **+* *** * * * * **+* * * *******

CERTIFICATE

I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of an Excerpt of
the Minutes of a meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Board, held on May 28, 2019, at which

meeting _ members were present and voted upon the same as indicated in said Minutes; that

said meeting was held in accordance with the Open Meetings Act of the State of Michigan.

Dusty Farmer, Township Clerk


	0 Agenda
	AGENDA

	D Policy
	4c TB Meetings & Budget Calendar
	4c TB Mtg Schedule & Budget Calendar

	5 Agritourism
	Agritourism Memo - 2nd reading

	6 Cemeteries



